

BYLAWS OF THE ATHLETIC COUNCIL OF THE UNIVERSITY SENATE THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Article I: Athletic Council Membership	4
Section 1: Composition of the Council	
Section 2: Members	
Faculty	
Students	
Alumni	
Staff	
Section 3: Terms of Service	
Section 4: Ex-Officio Members	
Section 5: Officers	
Chair of the Council	
Secretary of the Council	
•	
Article II: Duties and Responsibilities	
Section 1: Policy Creation and Development	
Section 2: Selection of Faculty Athletic Representatives	
Final Approval Terms of Appointment	
Section 3: Team Liaisons	
Article III: Procedures of the Council	
Section 1: Election of a Vice Chair/Chair-elect	
Section 2: Meetings	
Article IV: Athletic Council Standing Committees	
Section 1: Preamble	
Section 2: Executive Committee	
Section 3: Academic Progress and Eligibility Committee	
Section 4: Equity and Student-Athlete Well-Being Committee	
Section 5: Finance and Facilities Committee	10
Article V: The Faculty Athletic Representatives	11
Section 1: Description	11
Section 2: Duties	11
Article VI: Athletic Council Rules and Awards	11
Article VII: General Rules	11
Article VIII: Revision and Amendment of Bylaws	12
Article IX: Organizational Chart	12
Appendix A: Rules of the Athletic Council	
Appendix A1: Student-Athlete Eligibility	14

Appendix A2: Missed Class Time	
Appendix A3: Varsity Credit	16
Appendix B: Awards of the Athletic Council	17
Appendix B1: The Big Ten Conference Medal of Honor	18
Appendix B2: The Ohio State University Academic Achievement Award	19
Appendix B3: Proclamations of Student-Athletes and Teams	20
Appendix C: Organizational Chart of the Athletics Council [The Table]	21

Bylaws of the Athletic Council of The University Senate

The Ohio State University

Introduction

The Athletic Council, through its authority established by the University Bylaws [3335-5-48.5], through its activity as a standing committee of the University Senate, [3335-5-48.5(B)(1)], and through its responsibilities to develop and establish policy for intercollegiate athletics [3335-5-48.5(B)(1)[a[[b][c], does hereby prescribe and organize the Athletic Council Bylaws. The current version of the bylaws was revised and approved by the Athletic Council on March 5, 2014.

Article I. Athletic Council Membership [3335-5-48.5(A)].

Section 1: Composition of the Council

The Athletic Council shall include faculty, students, staff, and members of the OSU Alumni Association.

Section 2: Members

The Council is composed of fifteen (15) voting members including:

- (1) Eight (8) regular tenure-track faculty.
 - a. Four (4) faculty selected by the Faculty Council.
 - b. Four (4) faculty appointed by the President.
 - c. Term of service shall be four (4) years.
- (2) Four (4) students.
 - (a) Two (2) undergraduate students
 - (1) term of service shall be two (2) years.
 - (2) one student is selected each year.
 - (b) One (1) graduate student.
 - (1) term of service shall be one (1) year.
 - (2) one student is selected each year.
 - (c) One (1) professional student.
 - (1) term of service shall be one year.
 - (2) one student is selected each year.
- (3) Two (2) alumni designated by the Alumni Association.
 - (a) Term of service shall be four (4) years.
 - (b) Terms shall be staggered so that one member is retiring every two (2) years.
- (4) One (1) staff member.

- (a) Selected by the University Staff Advisory Committee.
- (b) Term of service shall be two (2) years.

Section 3: Terms of Service

Terms of service shall begin July 1 and end on June 30; incoming members may attend meetings as non-voting members as soon as they are appointed. [3335-5-46(A)(5)].

Section 4. Ex-Officio Members.

There are also five (5) ex-officio non-voting members including:

- (1) Director of Athletics;
- (2) Vice President of Student Life;
- (3) Faculty Athletics Representative (FAR);
- (4) Director, Student Athletic Support Services Office (SASSO); and
- (5) President of the Student-Athlete Advisory Board (SAAB).

Section 5: Officers.

The Officers of the Athletic Council shall be the chair and the vice chair/chair elect.

- (1) The Chair of the Council shall be a faculty member serving in the last year of a four year term. The Chair shall:
 - a. Preside over Council meetings and organize the agenda of the Council in consultation with the Executive Committee;
 - b. Preside over election of the Vice Chair and Secretary:
 - c. Select chairs and members of the Equity and Student-Athlete Well-Being Committee and the Finance and Facilities Committee;
 - d. Establish ad hoc committees as necessary;
 - e. Serve as the Athletic Council representative to the President of the University, the University Senate, and to the Board of Trustees;
 - f. Serve as the Athletic Council representative to external organizations and commissions addressing concerns of intercollegiate athletics;
 - g. Prepare and submit a timely annual report to the University Senate based on the overall activity of the Council and timely annual reports of the standing committees.
- (2) The Vice Chair of the Council, and Chair-elect, shall be a faculty member serving in the third year of a four year term and shall be the chair of the Academic Progress and Eligibility Committee;
- (3) A Recording Secretary shall work with the Officers and circulate the Council agenda and keep minutes of all Council meetings; The Director of Athletics shall designate a Department of Athletics staff member as Recording Secretary.

- (4) Officers for the subsequent year shall be elected at the last regular meeting of the year. Terms of office shall commence July 1 and end on June 30.
- (5) In the event the position of Chair becomes vacant the Vice Chair shall assume the position of Chair for the duration of the former chair's term of office and of the following year.

Article II. Duties and Responsibilities.

Section 1: Policy Creation and Development [3335-5-48.5(B)(1)].

- (1) The Athletic Council, as an agent of the Senate, in accordance with the University Bylaws, and subject to the general authority of the President and the Board of Trustees, shall have the power and authority to develop policies governing intercollegiate athletics. The Senate may hold these policies in review. The policies shall guide the administration of athletics by the Director of Athletics, but the Athletic Council shall not serve in an administrative or executive capacity.
- (2) The Council shall establish and consider policy involving, but not limited to:
 - a. The income and expenditures budget;
 - b. The schedules for seasonal and post-seasonal play in relation to the effect upon the well-being of the athletes;
 - c. Grants and other financial aid to athletes;
 - d. Student-athlete eligibility;
 - e. Student grievance procedures and sportsmanship policies related to athletics;
 - f. Awards to athletes:
 - g. Ticket prices and ticket distribution;
 - h. Public and campus relations of the athletic program.
- (3) The Council shall review, adopt, alter, or abolish its policies relating to intercollegiate athletics based on the following authority:
 - a. Establish standing committees;
 - b. Establish an executive committee for consultation with the Chair on matters relating to the Council;
 - c. consider matters brought before it by its members, the athletic department, student-athletes, and by faculty, staff, students, and administrators in the greater university;
 - d. maintain an official record of its proceedings which shall be made available to the University Senate.
- (4) Council recommendations and decisions on policy shall be reported to the senate and to the department of athletics.

Section 2: Selection of Faculty Athletic Representative(s) (FAR). [3335-5-48.5(B)(2)]:

(1) Participate with the President in selecting one FAR;

- a. For the position of FAR the Council shall prepare a list of no fewer than two members from the regular tenured university faculty;
- b. The President shall select a representative from the Council's recommendations.
- (2) The Chair of the Athletic Council shall appoint a nominating committee with the following responsibilities:
 - a. Inform the university community about the position of the FAR;
 - Invite written applications from tenured faculty and/or recommendations for nominations in writing from the university community;
 - c. Prepare and provide a schedule for the receipt of applications and nominations.
- (3) Final approval of nominees submitted to the President shall be made by a two-thirds majority vote of the voting members of the Athletic Council:
 - a. The nominees shall be presented to the President in June of the year before the start of the next term of office of the FAR to allow a smooth transition between outgoing and incoming representatives;
 - b. The new FAR shall be appointed as faculty athletics representativeelect on July 1 of the year before becoming FAR.
 - c. The FAR-elect shall shadow the FAR for a year and attend all meetings to which the FAR has access, but the FAR-elect shall have no right to vote until becoming the FAR.
- (4) Terms of appointment of the FAR are based on the following:
 - a. FAR terms of office are four (4) years;
 - b. Reappointment is permissible for no more than two additional fouryear terms.
- (5) If an incumbent FAR desires an additional four-year term, and is eligible, then at least nine (9) months prior to the current term the Athletic Council shall undertake a review of the incumbent's performance.
- (6) If the Athletic Council decides that the incumbent should serve a second term, and the President concurs, the FAR'S term shall be renewed.
- (7) An FAR shall not serve simultaneously as a member of the Athletic Council, but shall attend meetings of the Council.
- (8) The Chair of the Athletic Council, or the Chair's designee from the membership of the faculty members of the Council, shall serve as an exofficio alternate of either FAR with full voting privileges at NCAA, Big-Ten, or other conference meetings. In the event that the faculty athletics representative does not complete a full term, the faculty athletics representative-elect shall complete the remainder of the uncompleted term. If there is no faculty athletics representative-elect at the time the faculty athletics representative vacates the position, the chair of the faculty council, or the chair's designee from among the faculty members of the athletic council, shall serve as the interim faculty athletics representative until the appointment of a new faculty athletics representative. Upon notice of a vacancy or an imminent vacancy in the faculty athletics representative position, the athletic council shall move immediately to prepare a list to

submit to the president following the procedures of paragraphs (2) to (3) of this section.

Section 3. Engagement Program

Each voting member of the Athletic Council shall make themselves available as a resource to coaches and student-athletes of the thirty-six (36) intercollegiate athletic teams. Service may include:

- (1) assisting as requested by coaches with recruiting (on campus official visits);
- (2) meeting with student-athletes as requested to provide academic advice from classroom tips to guidance on post-graduate plans;
- (3) meeting with teams as requested to inform teams about the work of the Athletic Council including team and student athlete awards;
- (4) Updating the chair of the Equity and Student-Athlete Well-Being Committee about any activities carried out relating to this Engagement Program;

Article III. Procedures of the Council

Section 1: Election of a Vice Chair/Chair-elect

The Athletic Council shall elect a Vice-Chair from its voting members during the last meeting of spring quarter. The Vice-Chair shall also be the Chair-elect and shall preside at Council meetings in the absence of the chair. The Vice Chair shall assume the office of on July 1of the fourth year of Council service.

Section 2: Meetings

- (1) The Council shall meet at least once monthly during the autumn and spring semesters. Special meetings may be held during any time of the year, as called by the Chair, or upon the request of a simple majority of members of the Council.
- (2) A simple majority of Council members shall constitute a quorum.
- (3) Except as otherwise provided specifically by these By-laws, all matters before the Council shall be decided by a simple majority of the voting members.
 - (4) All meetings of the Council shall be open unless the Council goes into executive session.

Article IV. Athletic Council Standing Committees

Section 1: Preamble.

(1) The standing committees of the Council shall consist of the Executive Committee, the Academic Progress and Eligibility Committee, the Equity

- and Student-Athlete Well-Being Committee, and the Finance and Facilities Committee.
- (2) The Chair of the Council is a member of the Academic and Eligibility Committee (AP&E) as are all Council faculty members. The Chair of the Council is also an ex-officio, non-voting member on all other committees. The Director of Athletics is a member of the Executive Committee and is an ex-officio, non-voting member of all other standing committees.
- (3) All committee reviews, decisions, and recommendations are subject to the approval of the Council and each committee, through its chair, shall submit a timely end of the year report, the contents of which are to be included in the Council's annual report.
- (4) Committee members serve from July 1 until June 30 the following year.

Section 2: Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall consist of the officers of the Council, the Director of Athletics, and the Faculty Athletics Representative(s). The Executive Committee shall meet as needed and consult with the Chair on matters relating to the Council with an agenda developed by all committee members. Official recommendations of these meetings shall be reported to the full Council.

Section 3: Academic Progress and Eligibility Committee (AP&E)

The AP & E Committee is composed of all eight (8) faculty members and one (1) student member of Council. The Vice Chair/Chair-elect of the Athletic Council presides over the meetings of AP&E. Ex-officio members include the Director of Athletics, the Faculty Athletics Representative, the Associate Athletic Director for Compliance, the Director for the Student-Athlete Support Services (SASSO), the Associate Athletic Directors with administrative responsibility for teams, and two student-athletes selected by the Student-Athlete Advisory Board (SAAB). A simple majority of the committee membership shall constitute a quorum.

- (1) AP&E is responsible for reviewing all regulations concerning intercollegiate eligibility at this university. The committee works to ensure that local regulations conform to or exceed the standards of the Big Ten Conference and the NCAA, and in addition, that they are consistent with the high standards of academic work at The Ohio State University. The committee acts upon all petitions submitted on behalf of student-athletes seeking relief from local eligibility requirements. The committee consults with the Director of Athletics, the Director of SASSO, and the Associate Director of Athletics for Compliance.
- (2) When petitions must be submitted to external governing agencies such as the Big Ten or the NCAA, the committee may be consulted by the FAR. The FAR provides the committee with semester reports of all petitions submitted to and actions taken by external governing agencies.

- (3) The Director of SASSO provides the committee with semester reports on the academic performance and progress of student-athletes.
- (4). The committee selects the winners of the Big Ten Conference Medal of Honor and Student-Athlete Academic Achievement Award.

Section 4: Equity and Student-Athlete Well-Being Committee (ESAW)

The ESAW committee is composed of at least four (4) faculty and two (2) students (one of whom is an undergraduate, all members of Athletic Council. Ex-officio members include the Chair of the Athletic Council, the Director of Athletics, a SAAB representative, a representative from the Office of Legal Affairs, an Assistant or Associate Athletics Director designated by the Director of Athletics, and the FAR. A simple majority of the committee membership shall constitute a quorum.

This committee shall:

- (1) Monitor issues of equity related to student-athletes and provide timely reports on equity matters to the Council;
- (2) Monitor issues related to the well-being of student-athletes, including emotional and physical health, personal development, social responsibility, sportsmanship, and ethical conduct;
- (3) Serve in an advisory capacity to student welfare and development programs within the Department of Athletics including, but not limited to SASSO, and SAAB;
- (4) Monitor media coverage and encourage efforts to provide accurate information about student-athletes to the university community and general public
- (5) Foster communication about the progress and success of student-athletes to the university community and the general public.

Section 5: Finance and Facilities Committee (FiFa)

(1) The FiFa committee is composed of at least four (4) faculty, one (1) staff member, one (1) Alumni Council representative, and two (2) students, all members of the Council. Ex-officio, non-voting, members include associate or assistant athletic directors designated by the Director of Athletics, and a representative from the Office of University Resource Planning and Institutional Analysis. A simple majority of the committee membership shall constitute a quorum.

(2) Periodic Reviews:

- a. Conducts an annual review of the proposed budget of the Department of Athletics;
- b. Conducts a quarterly review of the financial statements of the Department of Athletics:
- c. Conducts an ongoing review of anticipated revenues, including those from admission charges and other forms of financial support, as well as

long-range expenditures with attention to program development and capital needs;

- d. Reviews the use and the condition of athletic facilities at the university;
- e. Reviews all proposals for additions to or modifications of current facilities or addition of new facilities.

(3) Tickets

- a. reviews and recommends changes in ticket prices.
- b. reviews and recommends changes or modifications needed to ensure fair and equitable distribution of tickets and access to athletic events and facilities.

(4) Green Committee

- a. The Green Committee is a committee of the Department of Athletics with affiliation to the Athletic Council through FiFa.
- b. FiFa reviews proposals concerning facilities at the University Golf Courses.
- c. Fifa reviews and makes recommendations regarding proposals from the Green Committee concerning fees and access to the University Golf Courses.
- d. A member of the Athletic Council shall serve on the Green Committee.

Article V. The Faculty Athletic Representative(s) (FAR)

Section 1: Description

- (1) The FAR is selected by the Athletic Council and the President to represent The Ohio State University and its faculty in the institution's relationships with the NCAA and the Big Ten Conference. [University Bylaws 3335-5-48.5(B)(2)]; [NCAA Constitution 4.02.2 (2007)].
- (2) The FAR shall carry out their responsibilities in so far as permitted by University Bylaws.
- (3) Such persons shall be a member of the faculty and shall not hold any position in the Athletics Department. [NCAA Constitution 6.1.3 (2007)].
- (4) Duties of the FAR shall be determined by The Ohio State University. [NCAA Bylaws 6.1.3 (2007)].

Section 2: Duties

- (1) serve as faculty advisor(s) to the President and the Director of Athletics as regards oversight of the intercollegiate athletics program at OSU.
- (2) participate in the assurance of academic integrity of the Athletics program;
- (3) monitor the student-athlete experience.
- (4) participate in the assurance of institutional compliance with the NCAA and Big Ten Conference Regulations.
- (5) participate in the review and transmission of petitions and waivers to the NCAA or Big Ten on behalf of student-athletes.
- (6) present timely reports to the Athletic Council concerning academic

integrity, compliance and petitions and waivers as listed above.

(7) The FAR shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting member of the Council.

Article VI. Athletic Council Rules and Awards

Athletic Council Bylaws establish rules and awards involving OSU intercollegiate athletic teams, student-athletes, and others. Such rules and awards may be proposed or recommended by any of the Council committees and adopted or revised by a simple majority of the voting members of the Athletic Council. In the event of inconsistencies between the Bylaws and any proposed or recommended rule or award, the Bylaws shall prevail. Rules and Awards are listed in Appendices A and B of the Bylaws.

Article VII. General Rules

Section 1: University Statutes: Bylaws: Rules [3335-5-46]; [3335-5-48].

Statutes applying to the University Bylaws of the Board of the Trustees and Rules of the University Faculty shall supersede the provisions of this document.

Section 2: Parliamentary Procedure

The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall govern the conduct of meetings of the Athletic Council in all cases in which they are applicable. These Bylaws affirm the values of open discussion and the exercise of democratic procedure in conducting the business of the Council and its committees.

Article VIII. Revision and Amendment of the Bylaws

Section 1: Revision or amendment of the Bylaws may be initiated by the Chair or by any of the committees of the Council.

Section 2: Discussion of proposed revisions or amendments to the Bylaws shall take place at a Council meeting at least one month before final action is to be taken. A positive vote by a simple majority of the voting members is required to revise or amend the Bylaws.

Section 3: The voting process for revision or amendment of the Bylaws shall be conducted by open vote in a meeting or by written or electronic ballot. If the vote is by written or electronic ballot, the Chair shall report the voting results to the Council within one week of the ballot count.

Section 4: If a simple majority of the Council votes in favor of a revision or an amendment, the changes to the Bylaws shall be immediately effective, unless otherwise specified.

Article IX. Organizational Chart

An Organizational Chart of the Athletic Council appears in Appendix C.

Appendix A Rules of the Athletic Council

Appendix A1 Student- Athlete Eligibility

1. 0.00 Eligibility Rule. All student-athletes on intercollegiate teams are required to complete all coursework through final examination evaluation, and to maintain satisfactory academic standing. Those student-athletes who receive a semester-grade point average of 0.00 or all "I" grades with an "E" alternative or a combination of the two conditions shall be immediately deemed ineligible for all competitions between semesters (including post-season competitions) and for competition during the subsequent academic semester of enrollment, excluding summer.

NOTE: A student-athlete who earns a 0.00 GPA for spring semester is ineligible for competition during autumn semester, regardless of cumulative GPA. If this 0.00 GPA occurred as a result of unusual circumstances, the student-athlete may appeal this ruling according to the appeals procedure outlined in the *Student-Athlete Handbook*.

2. First- and Second-Year Student-Athletes

- A. **1.65 Rule**. A first-year student-athlete must earn a minimum cumulative gradepoint average of 1.65 at the end of the first semester during the first year in residence at Ohio State to remain eligible to practice. If a student-athlete fails to meet this requirement, they are not able to practice during the following semester. The AP&E committee will consider reinstating some practice privileges the next semester if an Academic Recovery Plan is submitted and approved, and satisfactory mid-semester academic success can be demonstrated. Such reinstatement cannot occur prior to the 8th week of the semester.
- B. 1.80 Rule. A first-year student-athlete must achieve a grade-point average of at least 1.80 after the first semester of enrollment to retain full practice and competition privileges the second semester. If a student athlete fails to meet this requirement, he/she must be held out of practice and competition until an Academic Recovery Plan, that is co-signed by the coach and Director of Athletics, is submitted and approved by the AP&E committee. The plan should outline the steps to be taken for the student-athlete to regain good academic standing and must include a reduced practice and/or competition schedule. Student athletes must maintain a cumulative 1.80 GPA to remain eligible for competition during the second year of enrollment.
- C. The freshman forgiveness rule (University Rules/Rules of the Faculty 3335-8-27.1) shall not be applied to reinstate eligibility until the next available opportunity for recertification.
- 3. Third-, Fourth-, and Fifth-Year Student-Athletes
 - A. **2.00 Eligibility Rule**. A third-year student-athlete must achieve a cumulative grade-point average of at least 2.00 to be eligible for competition at the start of the third year and must maintain a cumulative 2.00 GPA to remain eligible for competition during the third year.

- B. Fourth- and Fifth-year student-athletes must maintain a cumulative 2.00 GPA to remain eligible for competition (NCAA Bylaw 14.4.3.3)
- 4. **Eligibility Appeals**. Appeals for relief of the rules established by the Athletic Council requires a petition and a vote of the Academic, Progress, and Eligibility Committee.

Appendix A2 Examination-Period and Missed-Class-Time Rules

1. Declaration of Policy: Regular class attendance is a critical part of being a fully involved student at The Ohio State University. The Athletic Council expects regular class attendance, student presence at scheduled final examinations, and preparation for class and for final examinations in all courses. Because the Athletic Council believes these expectations are shared by the University community, the Athletic Council has promulgated the following rules to govern team travel and competition.

When team travel or competition requires student-athletes to miss class, absences are involuntary for student-athletes. Furthermore, when team travel or competition is scheduled during the examination period or the reading days reserved for examination preparation, student-athletes have no choice but to engage in the team travel or competition. Consequently, the Athletic Council believes that examination-period rules and missed-class-time rules are essential to preserving the primacy of the academic mission of the University in the face of the competitive demands of intercollegiate athletics.

The Athletic Council understands that it is sometimes necessary for teams to travel and to compete at times that necessitate missing class and to travel or to compete during the examination period. Consequently, the following rules attempt to balance the academic requirement of regular class attendance and final examination preparation and attendance with the desire to field highly competitive intercollegiate athletic teams.

The Athletic Council wants the University's teams to participate in post-season conference and NCAA championship tournaments and events. Furthermore, the Department of Athletics has little or no control over the schedule of post-season championship competitions. Accordingly, special rules apply to such post-season competition.

In addition, for events where individual student-athletes must qualify, missedclass days will be treated in the same manner as post-season competition. Such missed-class days must be identified on the missed-class-time form, but they will not count toward the total number of missed classes for the semester. Potential participation in such events must be reflected in an academic mitigation plan submitted by the head coach.

Because missed-class time may negatively affect the academic performance of student-athletes, the following rules require that the head coach submit an academic mitigation plan for approval by the Academic Progress & Eligibility ("AP&E") Committee of the Athletic Council before a team may miss an excessive number of class days during a single semester (Level Two). When a team's absences during a single semester become unduly excessive (Level

Three), however, the AP&E Committee may permit additional missed time only in extraordinary, infrequently-recurring circumstances.

Because student-athlete preparation for and attendance at regularly-scheduled final examinations are critical to the academic mission of the University, the AP&E Committee will approve the scheduling of team travel or competition during the examination period only after it has approved an academic mitigation plan. Furthermore, if a team has missed an excessive number of class days during a single semester (Level Two), then the team may be permitted to travel or to compete during the examination period only in extraordinary, infrequently-recurring circumstances.

2. Definitions:

- A. Missed-class day. A missed-class day occurs whenever team travel or competition occurs after 6:00 a.m. and before 3:00 p.m. on a regularly scheduled day of classes during a semester regardless of whether any student-athletes on the team have a regularly scheduled class. Days missed due to travel for or participation in post-season conference and NCAA championship tournaments and events are not included in the missed-class-day policy. In calculating the number of missed-class days for the purpose of this rule:
 - (i) A day on which departure from campus occurs before 12:00 noon counts as a full day missed; a day on which departure from campus occurs between 12:00 noon and 3:00 p.m. counts as a half (.5) day missed; and a day on which departure from campus occurs after 3:00 p.m. does not count as a missed day.
 - (ii) Any day on which a team returns to campus after 12:00 noon counts as a full day missed; any day on which a team returns to campus between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon counts as a half (.5) day missed; and any day on which a team returns to campus before 9:00 a.m. does not count as a day missed.
 - (iii) The schedules of individual student-athletes and the possibility that only a portion of a team may travel to a particular event will not be considered in calculating compliance with this rule.
- B. Examination Period. For the purpose of this rule, the examination period begins at 6:00 a.m. on the day after the last day of regularly scheduled classes for the semester and ends after the last scheduled final examination. All scheduled reading days and weekend days during the period between the last day of regularly scheduled classes and the last scheduled day of final examinations are part of the examination period. Travel for or participation in post-season conference and NCAA championship tournaments and events, events where individual student-athletes or teams must qualify, or events scheduled by the conference or

- NCAA during the examination period does not constitute a violation of the examination-period rule.
- C. Academic Mitigation Plan. An academic mitigation plan must describe what steps will be taken to mitigate the possible adverse academic effects of more than seven missed-class days in a semester or travel or competition during the examination period by setting forth plans for matters such as communicating with classroom instructors, making up missed exams/assignments, and providing study time during team travel. The academic mitigation plan must set forth the past academic performance of the team and its individual student-athletes, including the effects and success of past academic mitigation plans on team and individual classroom performance. No academic mitigation plan will name any individual student-athlete. An academic mitigation plan must be submitted by the head coach for any Level Two or Level Three schedule. An academic mitigation plan must also be submitted for any events scheduled by the conference or NCAA during the examination period.
- D. Level One Schedule. A semester when a team will not have more than seven missed-class days or any travel or competition during the examination period. A team with a Level One schedule is not required to submit an academic mitigation plan or seek approval of its schedule from the AP&E Committee.
- E. Level Two Schedule. A semester when a team will have more than seven but fewer than ten missed-class days. Level Two is also reached when a team has not missed more than seven class days but travels or competes during the examination period. A team whose proposed schedule would fall within Level Two must have its academic mitigation plan approved by the AP&E Committee before its schedule may be approved.
- F. Level Three Schedule. A semester when a team will have ten or more missed-class days. A Level Three Schedule is also a semester when a team will miss more than seven and fewer than ten class days and travel or compete during the examination period. The AP&E Committee may not approve a Level Three schedule except in extraordinary, infrequently-recurring circumstances.

3. Missed-Class-Time Rule:

- A. Teams should aim to develop a Level One Schedule and not schedule more than seven missed-class days during a semester, excluding participation in and travel for post-season team competitions.
- **B.** Teams that propose a Level Two Schedule must gain approval of an academic mitigation plan from the AP&E Committee prior to scheduling.

C. Teams should not have a Level Three Schedule with ten or more missedclass days. Waiver of this rule may be granted by the AP&E Subcommittee only in extraordinary, infrequently-recurring circumstances. Any such waiver of this rule must be reported by the Chair of the AP&E Committee to the full Athletic Council at the next regularly-scheduled Athletic Council meeting.

4. Examination-Period Rule:

- A. Neither team travel nor competitions, excluding participation in and travel for post-season team competitions, should be scheduled during the examination period.
- B. If a team will not miss more than seven class days but seeks to schedule travel or a competition during the examination period, the schedule will be considered a Level Two schedule and require that the head coach submit and receive approval of an academic mitigation plan. Any media contract scheduling a regular-season competition and any event scheduled by the conference or NCAA during the examination period or requiring travel during the examination period must have an academic mitigation plan approved by the AP&E Committee.
- C. If a team will miss more than seven class days during the semester and the team seeks to schedule travel or a competition during the examination period, the schedule will be considered a Level Three schedule and waiver of this examination-period rule may be granted by the AP&E Committee only in extraordinary, infrequently-recurring circumstances. Any such waiver of this rule must be reported by the Chair of the AP&E Committee to the full Athletic Council at the next regularly-scheduled Athletic Council meeting.
- D. Events scheduled by the conference or NCAA during the examination period will not require a waiver of the examination-period rule, but an academic mitigation plan must be submitted by the head coach. The continuing practice of mitigating the effects of travel or competition during the examination period will be expected by the AP&E Committee.

5. Compliance:

- A. The Department of Athletics will not approve a team schedule, arrange transportation, or publicize the schedule without determining in advance that the schedule is in compliance with the missed-class-time rule and the examination-period rule.
- **B.** Missed-class time for participating in or traveling for post-season championship competitions such as Conference tournaments and NCAA championships, events where individual student-athletes or teams must

- qualify, or events scheduled by the conference or NCAA will not be counted in determining whether the team's schedule is in compliance with the missed-class-time and examination-period rules.
- C. The AP&E Committee will regularly monitor the effect and application of these rules to determine whether they are striking the appropriate balance of the academic mission of the University with the desire to field highly competitive intercollegiate athletic teams. Furthermore, the AP&E Committee will continuously monitor the effect of the academic mitigation plans to make certain that they are enabling all student-athletes to realize their full academic potential notwithstanding their teams' schedule.

Appendix A3

Varsity Credit

- 1) In determining a student-athlete's academic eligibility for competition under the NCAA Fulfillment of Credit-Hours Bylaw 14.4.3.1 (the "six-hour rule") and the Minimum Quantitative Requirements of Big 10 Rule 14.4.3.1, a student-athlete will not be credited for participation KNSFHP 1196 (Varsity Squads) if the student has carried the class to completion twice before.
- 2) In determining a student-athlete's academic eligibility for competition under the NCAA Fulfillment of Credit-Hours Bylaw 14.4.3.1 (the "six-hour rule") and the Minimum Quantitative Requirements of Big 10 Rule 14.4.3.1, a student-athlete will not be credited for participation in KNSFHP 1196 (Varsity Squads) for any term outside of the terms of active sport participation.

Appendix B Awards of the Athletic Council

Appendix B1

The Big Ten Conference Medal of Honor

1. History. In 1914, the Conference established a Medal of Honor to be awarded annually at each member institution to a male student-athlete in the graduating class. An additional award for the top female athlete was instituted in 1982. Chosen by the Academic Progress and Eligibility (AP & E) Committee, the winners of this most prestigious award are the male and female student-athletes who have epitomized excellence in both academics and athletics. All nominees must have a minimum overall grade point average of 3.00, be of senior standing, and have completed their athletic eligibility within the current academic year. This honor includes a \$5,000 post-graduate scholarship for any recipient who chooses to pursue a graduate or professional program at The Ohio State University.

2. Guidelines:

- a. Candidates must be seniors who have exhausted their eligibility during the year of the award. Candidates must have a minimum GPA of 3.0. Candidates must submit a personal statement and a letter of support from their coaches;
- b. The SASSO Office will solicit and screen nominations for this award. The Director of SASSO will forward the applications of the top five male and female candidates to the faculty members of AP&E and to the Faculty Athletics Representative (FAR) for final consideration;
- c. Faculty members of AP&E and the FAR will review candidates and establish preliminary findings prior to the AP&E meeting at which the final selections are determined;
- d. Candidates will be evaluated on both academic and athletic performance. Because candidates have already achieved an academic threshold to be eligible for consideration, particular attention will be given to athletic accomplishments. The consideration of academic accomplishments will not involve comparisons of various fields of study.

Appendix B2

The Ohio State University Athletic Council Academic Achievement Award

1. **History**. First established in 1999, this award is designed specifically to recognize student-athletes who have overcome obstacles to achieve academic success while participating in their sport. These young men and women typically will have demonstrated significant academic improvement in order to be recognized by this award. Awardees must have persevered and made noticeable personal strides to improve their academic performance. A common criterion for all recipients of this award is motivation to succeed and demonstration of the work ethic to overcome academic difficulty or other obstacles to academic achievement.

2. Guidelines.

- A. The minimum requirements for nomination are:
 - 1. The candidate has maintained a 2.00 cumulative Grade-Point Average (GPA);
 - 2. The candidate has also completed three academic semesters (not including summer terms);
 - 3. The candidate must be a full-time student.
- B. The Academic Progress and Eligibility Committee shall receive and review quarterly nominations for this award to be recommended to the Athletic Council.
- C. Recipients of this award are invited with their Academic Counselor assigned through the Student-Athlete Support Services Office (SASSO) to a monthly Athletic Council meeting, at which time special recognition will be given, along with a commemorative plaque.

Appendix B3 Proclamations of Student-Athletes and Teams

History: In 2007, The Ohio State Athletic Council, as an Agent of the University Senate, voted to honor Sport Programs, Coaches, and Student-Athletes by presenting them with a token of the Council's appreciation for hard work and success in their sport.

The Honor: Athletics Council will recognize individual and team achievements once or twice a year. Student-athletes and their coaches will be invited to have dinner and receive a certificate detailing their achievements. Recognition programs will be held prior to regular monthly business meetings of the Council.

Honorees are invited through Athletics Administration to attend the meeting and enjoy dinner.

Appendix C

Organizational Chart of the Athletics Council

